### RECEIVED

04-26-2019

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP2355

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM F. KUEHN,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom, Presiding, and from the Orders Denying Postconviction Relief, the Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner, Presiding.

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CARLY M. CUSACK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1096479

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Was Mr. Kuehn deprived of the effective assistance of counsel when his trial attorney failed to pursue his third-party perpetrator defense?

The postconviction court denied Mr. Kuehn's postconviction claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. (95:1).

II. Did the circuit court properly impose child pornography surcharges on Mr. Kuehn's dismissed and read-in charges, under WIS. STAT. § 973.042(1)?

The postconviction court said yes. (87:3).

III. Did the sentencing court erroneously exercise its discretion by imposing an arbitrary and unreasonable condition of extended supervision reflecting only the court's "own idiosyncrasies"?

The postconviction court said no. (87:3-4).

## POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Kuehn welcomes oral argument if it would be helpful to the court. As this case involves facts applied to settled law, publication is likely not warranted.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Kuehn was charged by criminal complaint with ten counts of possession of child pornography, in violation of WIS. STAT. §§ 948.12(1m), (3)(a), 939.50(3)(d). (1:1-8). By an amended Information, the state added five additional counts of possession of child pornography. (34:1-3).

The probable cause portion of the complaint alleged that Milwaukee police reviewed reports generated by the National Center of Missing and Exploited Children ("NCMEC"), indicating subscriber had uploaded an image of suspected child pornography, using the email address of bigwill00778@gmail.com. (1:2). Milwaukee police reviewed the suspected child pornography image and confirmed the nature of the image. (1:2). The police were provided with a transaction log of IP addresses for that email address between July 27, 2014 and August 24, 2014. (1:2). Police traced subscriber information subpoenaed from Time Warner for one of the IP addresses to Walter Szymanski at 3903 E. Armour Ave., Cudahy, WI 53110. (1:3). The NCMEC reports showed that the email address bigwill00778@gmail.com was accessed using the Internet connection at Szymanski's address on fourteen dates between July 27, 2014 and August 20, 2014. (1:3). In addition, police determined that the bigwill00778@gmail.com email account accessed child pornography on the free Wi-Fi at the Cudahy Public Library and at an Aurora Health Care branch. (1:2-3).

Milwaukee police surveilled Szymanski's residence and identified three vehicles registered to Szymanski, including a white 2004 Ford F250 pickup truck. (1:3). The police procured a search warrant for records from the bigwill00778 email address, and reviewed records corresponding to the bigwill00778 email address which expressed interest in trading pictures and videos, emailed an image of child pornography, and responded to a Craigslist ad with a picture of a white male wearing glasses and a blue shirt. (1:3-4). Police searched Facebook and Twitter and one of the search results was for a Facebook account belonging to William Kuehn, date of birth 9/10/78, which appeared to resemble the image emailed to the Craigslist poster. (1:4). Police also compared a Department of Transportation photo of William F. Kuehn, date of birth 9/10/78. (1:4). Detective Sean Lips conducted surveillance at 3903 E. Armour Ave, and observed two men identified as Walter Szymanski and William Kuehn inside the 2004 Ford F250 pickup truck, with Mr. Kuehn driving. (1:4).

On November 21, 2014, Mr. Kuehn was observed operating the 2004 Ford F250 pickup truck. (1:5). A traffic stop was conducted and Mr. Kuehn was arrested. (1:5). Detective Lips searched a black Alcatel smartphone pursuant to a search warrant, but no images or videos of child pornography were located. (1:5). Pursuant to additional search warrants, police searched the residences of both Mr. Kuehn and Szymanski. (1:5). Laptops, computers,

cellphones, cameras, compact discs, and a flash drive were seized. (1:5).

In addition, a Samsung Galaxy cellphone was recovered from a storage compartment in the driver's door of Szymanski's 2004 Ford F250 pickup truck. (1:5). From the Samsung Galaxy, Detective Lips recovered ten child pornography movies. (1:6-7). The complaint asserted that additional analysis revealed the phone belonged to Mr. Kuehn. (1:6).

The Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom presided over a final pretrial hearing. (107). The court confirmed the defense had received the amended Information, which added five counts of possession of child pornography to the ten counts of possession of child pornography originally charged in the criminal complaint, based on the evidence discovered in the Samsung Galaxy cellphone. (107:3). Mr. Kuehn's trial attorney confirmed the case remained in trial posture. (107:3-4).The parties discussed logistics, including number of witnesses the parties planned to call, and the number of convictions relevant to credibility if Mr. Kuehn should choose to testify. (107:4-6). The state then motioned "for an order excluding—or preventing the Defendant from pointing the finger at—from arguing and inferring that Walter Szymanski possessed the 'dirty phone' on the absence of any pretrial motion because he lacks a good faith basis to do so." (107:6). The court clarified, "Okay. So basically you're making a motion in limine that there can't be a *Denny*<sup>[1]</sup> defense?" (107:6). The prosecutor said yes. Trial counsel responded, "My investigation indicates that we're not going to pursue that." (107:6). The court granted the state's motion, barring any *Denny* evidence. (107:7). The prosecutor mused aloud, "Which then kind of leads us into a curious place, I guess, which is what is the defense?" (107:7).

On the day of the trial, the parties informed the court that the case would resolve in a plea. (108:3). The state explained the terms of the plea agreement: if Mr. Kuehn pled guilty to Counts 1, 11, 12, 14, and 15 from the amended Information, the state would dismiss but read in the remaining ten counts and be free to argue at sentencing. (108:6). The circuit court accepted Mr. Kuehn's guilty pleas. (108:12-13).

The circuit court sentenced Mr. Kuehn to four years of initial confinement and four years of extended supervision on each count, consecutive, for a total of twenty years of initial confinement and twenty years of extended supervision. (52:1-3; 103:47-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "When a defendant seeks to present evidence that a third party committed the crime for which the defendant is being tried, the defendant must show 'a legitimate tendency' that the third party committed the crime; in other words, that the third party had motive, opportunity, and a direct connection to the crime." *State v. Wilson*, 2015 WI 48, ¶3, 362 Wis. 2d 193, 864 N.W.2d 52 (quoting *State v. Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984)). This is commonly referred to as "*Denny* evidence" because it adheres to the test set forth in *Denny*. *See Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 56.

48; App.108-109, 112-114). In addition, the court imposed a \$500 child pornography surcharge on all fifteen counts, for a total of \$7,500. (52:1-2; 103:49; App.110, 112-113). The court also imposed a nocontact order with Jessica S., Mr. Kuehn's girlfriend. (52:2; 103:46; App.107, 113).

### Postconviction hearing and decisions

Mr. Kuehn filed a postconviction motion raising four issues. (71). He moved to withdraw his pleas, arguing they were entered as a result of the ineffective assistance of counsel because trial counsel failed to file his third-party perpetrator Denny defense and because counsel guaranteed he would be sentenced to the mandatory minimum sentence.<sup>2</sup> (71:1).In addition. Mr. Kuehn asked postconviction court to vacate the child pornography surcharges that were assessed on the counts that were dismissed and read-in. (71:1). Last, Mr. Kuehn requested the postconviction court vacate the nocontact order with Jessica S. (71:1).

The Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner ordered postconviction briefing. (72). After briefing was completed, the court issued a decision and order partially denying the motion for postconviction relief. (87:1-4; App.115-118). The postconviction court denied Mr. Kuehn's requests to vacate the child pornography surcharges and the no-contact order,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Kuehn does not renew his argument regarding trial counsel's improper guarantee in this appeal.

but it ordered an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Kuehn's plea withdrawal claims. (87:1-4; App.115-118).

The postconviction court concluded that the plain language of the child pornography surcharge statute did not limit the court's authority to impose the surcharge to the counts of conviction, and that it appropriately exercised its discretion in imposing the surcharge on the dismissed and read-in counts. (87:3; App.117). Regarding the no-contact order, the postconviction court explained it was reasonable and necessary to restrict Mr. Kuehn's contact with Jessica S. so that he could devote "100% of his attention to his rehabilitation. Unless the defendant addresses his deviant sexual behavior, he has virtually no chance of successful rehabilitation and no chance of being a suitable companion for Jessica S. or a stepfather for her children." (87:4; App.118).

At the postconviction hearing, Mr. Kuehn testified that he told his trial attorney that Szymanski picked him up from his appointment at the Aurora Health Care facility where child pornography was accessed, and that Szymanski was working with him at the Cudahy Public Library on the occasion that investigators took a picture of him. (111:12; App.121). Mr. Kuehn also testified that he told his attorney that the Samsung Galaxy "dirty phone" was a deactivated phone that he had previously used. (111:12; App.121). Mr. Kuehn testified that if his attorney had filed the motion alleging that Szymanski was the true perpetrator, he would have "absolutely" gone to trial rather than

plead, even though he was facing fifteen charges of possession of child pornography. (111:8-9; App.120-21). Mr. Kuehn testified that he would have gone to trial because he was innocent. (111:9; App.121).

Trial counsel testified he had reviewed the discovery materials provided by the state and was aware of Walter Szymanski, Mr. Kuehn's boss. (111:21; App.124). Trial counsel testified that he was aware that Szymanski was a registered sex offender due to his conviction for the sexual assault of a child. (111:22; App.124). Trial counsel further testified that he was aware that one of the locations at which child pornography was accessed was at Szymanski's house, and that the "dirty phone" containing pornography was found in a vehicle belonging to Szymanski. (111:22; App.124). Trial counsel testified that he was generally aware of the law on third-party perpetrator defenses, and was looking into whether it was viable to present a defense that Szymanski "was the guy[.]" (111:22; App.124).

Trial counsel explained that he did not file a *Denny* motion for two reasons: because child pornography was accessed outside a library, and Mr. Kuehn was seen and photographed in a truck, "apparently looking at a phone. It's unclear. But it was being accessed at that point. It's not Mr. Szymanski." (111:23; App.124). Second, trial counsel noted that child pornography was accessed at the time Mr. Kuehn was at a health care facility for an appointment. (111:23; App.124). He testified that "those two instances in particular led me to believe

that we would not be able to prevail. And, you know, such a defense would put Mr. Kuehn in a bad light if he went to trial and then presented that type of defense." (111:23-24; App.124).

However, trial counsel also testified that he was not familiar with United States Supreme Court case law holding that a third-party perpetrator defense cannot be excluded simply because the state strong evidence of guilt. presents (111:24-26; App.124-125). He testified, "I wasn't familiar with that, not that I know of. I read it in here [the postconviction motion] and – but it didn't cross my mind. ...It didn't cross my mind in my analysis." (111:25-26; App.125). The court interjected and asked trial counsel whether his decision would have been the same had he known of the relevant Supreme Court case law, and trial counsel answered, "It would be the same. That it would—for Mr. Kuehn to present Mr. Szymanski when there's clear evidence that on at least two occasions that he was there when pornography was being downloaded, it seemed foolish to me, and it would be an untenable defense." (111:26; App.125).

At the conclusion of the postconviction hearing, the court ordered the parties to submit proposed findings of fact and conclusion of law. (111:39; App.128). On November 20, 2018, the court denied Mr. Kuehn's remaining postconviction arguments. (95:1). The court adopted the state's proposed findings of fact and conclusions in full. (95:1; App.134). Specifically, the state's proposed findings of

fact, adopted by the postconviction court are as follows:

- Mr. Kuehn provided trial counsel with information about Walter Szymanski and his belief that Szymanski was the person who possessed child pornography at the times the state alleged Mr. Kuehn did.
- Trial counsel reviewed discovery material with information about Szymanski and discussed filing a *Denny* motion with Mr. Kuehn.
- Trial counsel obtained additional information regarding Szymanski's possible culpability from Mr. Kuehn.
- Trial counsel "ultimately found that a Denny motion would not be successful based on the particular facts of the case and that it would be a 'foolish' and 'untenable defense."

(93:2; App.130). The postconviction court adopted the state's proposed conclusions of law:

The Defendant failed to meet his burden to demonstrate that [trial counsel] rendered ineffective assistance in regards to pursuing a *Denny* defense because he fails to show deficient performance. The prior record in this case and the testimony received at the *Machner*<sup>3</sup> hearing demonstrates that [trial counsel] did conduct a

 $<sup>^3</sup>$   $State\ v.\ Machner,\ 92$  Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W. 2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979)

reasonable investigation regarding a *Denny* defense but ultimately concluded such a defense lacked merit and would be a poor trial strategy. Trial counsel cannot be deemed deficient for failing to file what would be a [sic] unmeritorious motion, and his decision to forgo such a defense was a strategic one.

(93:3-4; App.131-132). The postconviction order denying the plea withdrawal arguments explained, "Trial counsel's assessment that a *Denny* defense would not be successful and could actually reflect poorly on his client was a reasonable conclusion based on the evidence, and therefore, the defendant has not demonstrated that counsel was deficient for failing to pursue this defense." (95:1; App.134).

This appeal follows. Additional facts will be discussed as necessary below.

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. Mr. Kuehn was denied his Sixth Amendment right to the effective representation of counsel when his trial attorney failed to pursue his third-party perpetrator defense motion.
  - A. Standard of review and relevant law

In this case, Mr. Kuehn's trial attorney did not file a third-party perpetrator motion, and by failing to do so, he rendered ineffective assistance of counsel. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687

(1984). "The law is well established that a defendant has due process rights under the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions to present a theory of defense to the jury." State v. Wilson, 2015 WI 48, ¶3, 362 Wis. 2d 193, 864 N.W.2d 52; Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319 (2006). Had trial counsel filed a third-party perpetrator motion, Mr. Kuehn would not have pled guilty to the charges but would have gone to trial. (111:8-9; App.120-121).

This Court should permit Mr. Kuehn to withdraw his pleas. A defendant is entitled to plea withdrawal upon showing that "a refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in a manifest injustice." *State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, ¶18, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906. One way of showing a manifest injustice is by establishing Mr. Kuehn was deprived the effective assistance of counsel. *See State v. Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, ¶84, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44; *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 311, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996).

To establish deficient performance, the defendant must show "facts from which a court could conclude that counsel's representation was below the objective standard of reasonableness."  $State\ v.$  Wesley, 2009 WI App 118, ¶ 23, 321 Wis. 2d 151, 772 N.W.2d 232. "To establish prejudice, the defendant must show facts from which a court could conclude that its confidence in a fair result is undermined." Id. In plea withdrawal cases, "in order to satisfy the 'prejudice' requirement, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for

counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985).

On appeal, the standard of review is two-fold. This Court accepts the circuit court's findings of fact unless clearly erroneous; however, it reviews the circuit court's application of constitutional principles to those facts de novo. *State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis. 2d 353, 376, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987). Therefore, the "legal conclusions of whether the performance was deficient and prejudicial based on [the postconviction] factual findings...are questions of law independently reviewed by this court." *State v. Delgado*, 194 Wis. 2d 737, 750, 535 N.W.2d 450 (Ct. App. 1995).

B. Trial counsel should have pursued Mr. Kuehn's third-party perpetrator defense.

Mr. Kuehn's trial attorney's performance was constitutionally deficient because he failed to pursue a *Denny* defense arguing that Walter Szymanski was the true perpetrator. Mr. Kuehn had a constitutional right to present a defense, see Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690 (1986), and Szymanski's direct connection to, opportunity, and motive to access child pornography should have been presented at a trial. See also State v. St. George, 2002 WI 50, ¶14, 252 Wis. 2d 499, 643 N.W.2d 777; Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284 (1973); see also U.S. CONST. Amends. VI, XIV; WIS. CONST. art. I, § 7.

In order to argue that a third-party was responsible for the crime for which Mr. Kuehn was charged, he needed to establish motive, opportunity, and direct connection: did the alleged third-party perpetrator have a plausible reason to commit the crime? Could the alleged third-party perpetrator have committed the crime, directly or indirectly? Is there evidence that the alleged third-party perpetrator actually committed the crime, directly or indirectly? See Wilson, 362 Wis. 2d at ¶¶56-59. In other words, "[w]hen a defendant seeks to present evidence that a third party committed the crime for which the defendant is being tried, the defendant must show 'a legitimate tendency' that the third party committed the crime[.]" Id., ¶3 (citing State v. Denny, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984)).

Importantly, in *Holmes*, the United States Supreme Court examined South Carolina's thirdparty perpetrator rule that "where there is strong evidence of [a defendant's] guilt, especially where there is strong forensic evidence, the proffered evidence about a third party's alleged guilt may (or perhaps must) be excluded." 547 U.S. at 329. The United States Supreme Court held that this rule "violates a criminal defendant's right to have a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense." Id. at 331. The Court explained, "Just because the prosecution's evidence, if credited, would provide strong support for a guilty verdict, it does not follow that evidence of third-party guilt has only a weak logical connection to the central issues in the case." *Id.* at 330-31 (emphasis in original).

Therefore, for purposes of analyzing the viability of a *Denny* defense, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has cautioned lower courts that they must conduct this inquiry without reference to the state's evidence supporting the conviction, explaining, "it is unconstitutional to refuse to allow a defendant to present a [*Denny*] defense simply because the evidence against him is overwhelming." *Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d at ¶61; see also Holmes, 547 U.S. at 330-331.

In this case, trial counsel should have pursued Mr. Kuehn's *Denny* defense, because despite the evidence against him, Mr. Kuehn can satisfy each prong of *Denny*'s test, as described as follows:

### Motive:

Did the alleged third-party perpetrator have a plausible reason to commit the crime?

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