RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **06-26-2019**

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP2355-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM FRANCIS KUEHN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ELLEN R. BROSTROM (JUDGMENT) AND THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER (ORDER), PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Kuehn has not proved that his counsel was ineffective for failing to file a *Denny* motion.

By pleading guilty, Kuehn forfeited his right to argue that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a *Denny* motion. But even if Kuehn did not forfeit this claim, it would still fail because counsel's decision not to file a *Denny* motion was reasonably based on his assessment of the case. Further, even if counsel performed deficiently, Kuehn cannot demonstrate prejudice.

A. Standard of review and legal principles

1. Standards of review

This Court reviews the circuit court's exercise of its discretion to grant or deny a plea-withdrawal motion under an erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *State v. Cain*, 2012 WI 68, ¶ 20, 342 Wis. 2d 1, 816 N.W.2d 177. A circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion "as a matter of law" when it does not allow plea withdrawal after a defendant has proved a denial of a constitutional right. *Id.* ¶ 21.

Whether counsel was ineffective is a question of constitutional fact, which this Court analyzes under a mixed standard of review. *State v. Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, ¶ 86, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44. The Court "upholds the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous." *Id.* But this Court independently reviews whether those facts constitute ineffective assistance. *Id.*

2. Post-sentencing plea withdrawal

Plea withdrawal generally. A defendant who seeks to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing must prove by clear and convincing evidence that a refusal to allow plea withdrawal would result in a manifest injustice. State v. *Taylor*, 2013 WI 34, ¶ 24, 347 Wis. 2d 30, 829 N.W.2d 482. A manifest injustice may be shown by a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. *Dillard*, 358 Wis. 2d 543, ¶ 84.

Ineffective assistance of counsel. A defendant alleging ineffective assistance of trial counsel has the burden of proving both that counsel's performance was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

To prove deficient performance, the defendant must show that his counsel's representation "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness" considering all the circumstances. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. The defendant must demonstrate that specific acts or omissions of counsel fell "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *Id.* at 690. A court should presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance. *Id.*

To demonstrate prejudice, the defendant must affirmatively prove that the alleged deficient performance prejudiced him. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693. The defendant must show something more than that counsel's errors had a conceivable effect on the proceeding's outcome. *Id*. Rather, the defendant must demonstrate "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id*. at 694.

To satisfy the prejudice prong in the plea withdrawal context, the defendant must allege "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for the counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 312, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996) (citation omitted). "As a general matter . . . a defendant who has no realistic defense to a charge supported by sufficient evidence will be unable to carry his burden of showing

prejudice from accepting a guilty plea." *Lee v. United States*, 137 S. Ct. 1958, 1966 (2017).

As the Supreme Court explained, "A defendant without any viable defense will be highly likely to lose at trial. And a defendant facing such long odds will rarely be able to show prejudice from accepting a guilty plea that offers him a better resolution than would be likely after trial." *Lee*, 137 S. Ct. at 1966. Further, the Supreme Court cautioned that courts assessing prejudice "should not upset a plea solely because of post hoc assertions from a defendant about how he would have pleaded but for his attorney's deficiencies." *Id.* at 1967. Instead, courts should consider "contemporaneous evidence to substantiate a defendant's expressed preferences." *Id.*

3. The guilty plea waiver rule and forfeiture of ineffective assistance claims unrelated to the plea itself.

In Wisconsin, a knowing and voluntarily guilty plea "constitutes a waiver of non-jurisdictional defects and defenses, including claims of violations of constitutional rights prior to the plea." Foster v. State, 70 Wis. 2d 12, 19–20, 233 N.W.2d 411 (1975) (identifying constitutional claims forfeited through a guilty plea).³ Ineffective assistance of counsel therefore may provide an "exception" to the guiltyplea waiver rule "when the alleged ineffectiveness is put forward as grounds for plea withdrawal." State v Villegas, 2018 WI App 9, ¶ 47, 380 Wis. 2d 246, 908 N.W.2d 198. "This is so because . . . a valid guilty plea 'represents a break in the chain of events which has preceded it in the criminal process."" *Id. (citing Tollett v. Henderson*, 411 U.S. 258, 267 (1973)).

³ Wisconsin Stat. § 971.31(10) creates a limited statutory exception to the guilty-plea waiver rule. A defendant who pleads guilty may appeal the denial of a motion to suppress evidence or motion challenge the admissibility of a defendant's statement. *Id*.

Both the Supreme Court and Wisconsin courts have limited the types of ineffective assistance claims that a defendant may raise after a guilty plea. When the defendant admits his guilt through a plea, "he may not thereafter raise deprivation independent claims relating to the of constitutional rights that occurred *prior to* the entry of the guilty plea." Tollett, 411 U.S. at 267 (emphasis added); *Villegas*, 380 Wis. 2d 246, ¶ 47 n.19 (and cases cited therein). Rather, the defendant "may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of the guilty plea by showing that the advice he received from counsel was not within the standards set forth in McMann."4 Tollett, 411 U.S. at 267 (cited with approval in State v. Pohlhammer, 82 Wis. 2d 1, 4, 260 N.W.2d 678 (1978) (per curiam)).

Thus, when a defendant pleads guilty, a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is limited to whether counsel ensured that the defendant understood the consequences of a guilty plea, including an understanding of the constitutional rights that he or she waives through the plea. *See State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 270–72, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986) (discussing rights generally). To this end, "defense counsel, too, is obligated to inform the defendant of the nature of the charge, of his constitutional rights which will be waived by virtue of the plea, and of the general legal effect of the guilty or no contest plea." *Id.* at 279.

4. A third-party *Denny* defense

A defendant seeking to admit evidence that a known third party could have committed the crime must satisfy all three prongs of *Denny*'s "legitimate tendency" test. *State v. Wilson*, 2015 WI 48, ¶¶ 52, 65, 362 Wis. 2d 193, 864 N.W.2d 52. First, the motive prong asks, "[D]id the alleged third-party perpetrator have a plausible reason to commit the crime?" *Id*.

⁴ McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759 (1970).

¶ 57. Second, the opportunity prong asks, "[D]oes the evidence create a practical possibility that the third party committed the crime?" *Id.* ¶ 58. Third, the direct-connection prong asks, "[I]s there evidence that the alleged third-party perpetrator actually committed the crime, directly or indirectly?" *Id.* ¶ 59. The defendant must satisfy all three criteria; it is not a balancing test, in which one prong can make up for a defendant's failure to establish another. *Id.* ¶ 64.

A defendant has a constitutional right to present a defense. *Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 324 (2006). A court may apply the rules of evidence, including rules that exclude *Denny*-type evidence, without violating the defendant's right to present a defense. *Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 102–03 (citing *Holmes*, 547 U.S. at 327). But a court's application of *Denny*'s legitimate tendency test violates a defendant's right to present a defense when it excludes third-party liability evidence based on the "overwhelming evidence against the defendant." *Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 69 (citing *Holmes*, 547 U.S. at 331).

B. By pleading guilty, Kuehn forfeited his right to argue that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a *Denny* motion.

Kuehn pleaded guilty to five counts of possession of child pornography. (R. 108:10.) Despite his admissions of guilt during the plea colloquy (R. 108:11), Kuehn now claims that he is innocent and that his counsel was ineffective for failing to file a *Denny* motion before his pleas (Kuehn's Br. 11–25).

By pleading guilty, Kuehn forfeited his right to challenge a deprivation of his constitutional rights that occurred *before* he pleaded guilty. *See Tollett*, 411 U.S. at 267. Kuehn's claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to file a *Denny* motion relates to a deprivation that occurred *before* he pleaded guilty. It is not an "attack" on "the voluntary and intelligent character of his plea." See Tollett, 411 U.S. at 267; Villegas, 380 Wis. 2d 246, \P 47.⁵

Kuehn's guilty plea triggered the guilty plea waiver rule, foreclosing him from subsequently challenging his counsel's effectiveness based on his counsel's decision not to file a *Denny* motion. Kuehn has forfeited his right to assert that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a *Denny* motion. This Court need not consider his plea withdrawal claim further.

- C. Based on his guilty pleas, Kuehn cannot prove that counsel's failure to file a *Denny* motion constituted deficient performance.
 - 1. Had Kuehn proceeded to trial, counsel's strategic decision not to file a *Denny* motion would not have constitute deficient performance.

The circuit court determined that trial counsel's performance was not deficient because counsel assessed the evidence and reasonably concluded "that a *Denny* defense would not be successful and could actually reflect poorly on his client." (R. 95:1.) The circuit court's determination regarding the reasonableness of counsel's strategy is "virtually unassailable in an ineffective assistance of counsel analysis." *State v. Breitzman*, 2017 WI 100, ¶ 65, 378 Wis. 2d 431, 904 N.W.2d 93. The record supports the circuit court's decision.

⁵ In the circuit court, Kuehn asserted that counsel was ineffective because counsel promised him that he would receive the minimum sentence. (R. 71:11.) Had Kuehn appealed the circuit court's denial of this claim (R. 95), the State would not argue that this claim was forfeited because, unlike his *Denny* claim, counsel's alleged misrepresentations about the anticipated sentenced constituted an attack on the voluntary and intelligent nature of the plea itself. *See Pohlhammer*, 82 Wis. 2d at 4 (citation omitted).

Counsel did not perform deficiently because he strategically declined to pursue a *Denny* defense based on a reasonable assessment of the evidence. Counsel testified that he assessed the viability of a *Denny* defense in consultation with Kuehn and after an investigation. (R. 111:22, 31.) Counsel knew that Kuehn claimed that W.S. was present at the library and the health care facility when the Samsung phone was used to access child pornography. (R. 111:26–27.) But according to counsel, the evidence, including Detective Lips's surveillance of Kuehn at the library and records showing Kuehn was treated at the health care facility, did not support the defense. (R. 111:23, 26–27, 33.)

The State's detailed, pretrial proffer demonstrating Kuehn's connection to the Samsung phone informed counsel's assessment of the viability of a *Denny* defense. The State identified the evidence that established Kuehn's connection to the Samsung phone:

- Evidence showed that the Samsung phone was last used as a cellphone in 2013; that Kuehn's ex-girlfriend was listed as the phone's subscriber; and that the billing address belonged to Kuehn's father. (R. 9:9; 106:12–13.)
- Evidence recovered from the Samsung phone showed Facebook exchanges between Kuehn and his exgirlfriend, whose name appeared on a contact list in the phone. (R. 106:13–14.)
- Call detail for the Samsung phone showed calls between the phone and Kuehn's father, Kuehn's employer W.S., and attorneys who represented Kuehn in several matters. (R. 9:9–10.)
- The Samsung phone was used to access several listed email accounts, which each included the name "will" in the email address. (R. 9:10.) One email address,

"bigwill00778@gmail.com," appeared in the original cybertip.⁶ (R. 9:10; 106:14.) Another email address, "100ironwill@gmail.com," linked to a Facebook account associated with the Alcatel phone police seized from Kuehn. (R. 9:10.) The Alcatel phone was "clean" but included links to two email addresses: "bigwilliamk.1978@gmail.com" and "100ironwill@gmail.com." (R. 9:2.)

- Analysis of the Samsung phone showed a Skype account on the Samsung phone under the name, "williamkuehn," along with several accounts under the name "willgood" for a Russian search engine used to share child pornography. (R. 9:10.) "Will" is not a shortened version of W.S.'s first name. (R. 1:3.)
- The "bigwill" email address was used to access IP accounts associated with a fast food restaurant and a library, places where Kuehn admitted using the free wireless. (R. 9:11.) In addition, the "will" email accounts were accessed through a health care facility when Kuehn was being treated there, at his father's residence, and at W.S.'s residence. (R. 9:12; 106:15–16.)
- Lips found email exchanges under the "will" email address in which Kuehn's photographs were shared with other people. (R. 9:17; 106:26–27.) A person using a "will" email also provided an address to another person, an address where Kuehn lived until he was evicted. (R. 9:17.) In another email exchange, a person

⁶ This Court has previously described how an Internet Service Provider initiates a cybertip through a referral to NCMEC, which then forwards it to a state or local law enforcement agency for investigation. *See State v. Silverstein*, 2017 WI App 64, ¶¶ 5–6, 378 Wis. 2d 42, 902 N.W.2d 550.

using a "will" email address provided Kuehn's exgirlfriend's phone number, which was the number assigned to the Samsung phone. (R. 9:18.)

• Call records associated with the Samsung phone also showed calls to Kuehn's attorney-of-record and a guardian ad litem for his children. (R. 9:10.)

Detective Lips's investigation offered further proof that Kuehn was using the phone for child pornography-related purposes:

- Based on the MAC address associated with the Samsung phone, Lips determined that the Samsung phone was used to surf a Russian website used to share child pornography through the Cudahy Public Library's website at the same time that Lips saw Kuehn was parked outside the library. (R. 9:13; 106:17–23.)
- Lips determined that the "will" email accounts found on the Samsung phone were used to send and receive hundreds of images of child pornography and that images found on these email accounts were also found on this phone. (R. 9:15; 106:25.)
- Lips recovered an email exchange between someone using a "will" email address and a person using another email address that showed an intent to exchange photographs of boys. (R. 9:16–17.)

In addition to the extensive circumstantial evidence connecting Kuehn and not W.S. to the Samsung phone's contents, the State also proffered other acts evidence alleging Kuehn's longstanding sexual interests in prepubescent children and evidence that several images depicting naked children were torn from library books that Kuehn had checked out. (R. 9:19–22.) The compelling circumstantial evidence against Kuehn stood in stark contrast to the evidence that he proffered in support of his theory that W.S. possessed the phone. To establish motive, Kuehn relied on W.S.'s 1985 prosecution for sexual assault of a 14-year-old girl. (Kuehn's Br. 15–16.) To establish W.S.'s opportunity and a direct connection to the Samsung phone used to access child pornography, Kuehn relied on W.S.'s listing as the subscriber for one IP address used to access child pornography, W.S.'s alleged presence with Kuehn at other locations where the phone was used to download child pornography, W.S.'s ownership of the truck, and W.S.'s purported access to the phone. (Kuehn Br. 16–20.) Unlike the evidence linking Kuehn to the accounts on the phone, he has not identified any account activity, lawful or otherwise, that suggested W.S. used this phone.

Contrasting the strength of the evidence against Kuehn and the relative lack of evidence against W.S. reinforced counsel's assessment that a *Denny* defense was not viable.

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